NPS Form 10-900

United States Department of the Interior National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Registration Form

B	E COMB ND. 102400	18
	JUN - 2 2017	U
Na	I. Reg. of Historic Place	es

National Parl This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations for individual properties and districts. See instructions in National Register Bulletin, How to Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form. If any item does not apply to the property being documented, enter "N/A" for "not applicable." For functions, architectural classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions.

56-1311

1. Name of Property

Historic Name: Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) Public Utilities Complex Other Names/Site Number: Gulf States Utilities (GSU), Entergy Name of related multiple property listing: N/A

Looption

z. Location	
Street & Number: 1509 Government Street	
City or town: Baton Rouge State: LA Cour	ty: East Baton Rouge Parish
Not for Publication: Vicinity:	
3. State/Federal Agency Certification	E A A
As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation that this in nomination is request for determination of eligibility in standards for registering properties in the National Register of Hist procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part meets is does not meet the National Register Criteria.	on Act, as amended, I hereby certify neets, meets the documentation toric Places and meets the 60. In my opinion, the property 🔀
I recommend that this property be considered significant at the foll	owing level(s) of significance:
Applicable National Register Criteria: A B C D	
Signature of certifying official/Title: Kristin Sanders, Deputy State His	storic Preservation Officer Date

Louisiana Department of Culture, Recreation, and Tourism State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

Signature of commenting official:

In my opinion, the property is meets indoes not meet the National Register criteria.

Title:

State or Federal agency/bureau or Tribal Government

Date

National Park Service / National Register of Historic Places Registration Form OMB No. 1024-0018

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

7-13-2017	
Date of Action	
	7-13-2017

5. Classification

Ownership of Property (Check as many boxes as apply.)

	Private
х	Public – Local
	Public – State
	Public – Federal

Category of Property (Check only one box.)

	Building(s)
Х	District
	Site
	Structure
	object

Number of Resources within Property count)

(Do not include previously listed resources in the

Contributing	Non-contributing	
3	6	Buildings
0	0	Sites
0	1	Structures
0	0	Objects
3	7	Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register: 0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (Enter categories from instructions.): INDUSTRY/PROCESSING/EXTRACTION/energy facility

Current Functions (Enter categories from instructions.): VACANT/NOT IN USE

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from instructions.): NO STYLE; MODERN MOVEMENT/Art Deco

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.) foundation: unknown walls: brick, concrete roof: concrete other: wood, glass, steel, aluminum

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with **a summary paragraph** that briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has historic integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

The Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) public utilities complex at 1509 Government Street in Baton Rouge, East Baton Rouge Parish, Louisiana, includes three contributing buildings: a power plant constructed in 1915-16 and converted into an operations center in the late 1930s, a service building constructed in 1930-31, and a small c. 1930s garage. The property is oriented to face Government Street to the south and is bordered by South 15th Street to the west, Spain Street to the north, and a revocated portion of South 16th Street to the east. The buildings were designed and built by Stone & Webster, Incorporated, a prominent Boston-based engineering services company that built and owned or managed utility companies and streetcar systems throughout the United States. The property is currently vacant. As is the nature of industrial sites, the BRECO complex underwent some modifications as it was adapted to evolving technologies and the needs of the expanding community. Nevertheless, the property remains clearly identifiable as an early 20th-century historic public utilities complex and remains eligible for National Register listing.

Narrative Description

In 1907, Stone & Webster bought Baton Rouge Electric Company (then known as Baton Rouge Electric and Gas Company), whose property and assets at the time included a small power plant on residential North Boulevard at St. Joseph Street, an antebellum gas works, the city's one electric streetcar line (City Belt Line), all associated infrastructure, and the company's franchise with the City of Baton Rouge as exclusive purveyors of electric, gas, and streetcar service. In 1915, BRECO announced its move to the Government Street site, a sizeable parcel of land adjacent to the L. R. & N. (Louisiana Railway & Navigation Co.) rail line and passenger depot. This site provided ample space for a new, larger power plant, which would provide twice the capacity of the existing facility, and its proximity to the railroad line vastly improved drayage of fuel and other materials to and from the new site. Once the plant was placed into service, the old plant on North Boulevard was demolished to make way for new residential construction.

Power Plant (Photos 1-16):

The Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) power plant is located near the southwest corner of the site and is oriented south to face Government Street. Completed in early 1916 as a steam-power plant, it is brick masonry construction with reinforced-concrete floors and roof and exposed steel roof trusses. Some steel columns are exposed, and others are encased in concrete. In keeping with power plants of the era, the

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

BRECO plant was designed for ultimate functionality. It has no overt architectural style, but its restrained exterior detailing, modest materials, and simple, heavy massing present a strong public face that communicates the power, quite literally, of the building's historic use.¹

Although the building was constructed in 1915-16, it was expanded and otherwise modified on several occasions in the 1920s and 1930s in response to the city's enormous growth during that period, which demanded the generation of more and more electric power. Far from diminishing the building's integrity, these modifications were anticipated from the start and signify the electric company's symbiotic relationship to Baton Rouge's development into a modern city.² As Baton Rouge expanded and evolved, BRECO's infrastructure adapted to support it; in turn, BRECO's service helped make the city's growth possible.

In a 1917 issue of Stone & Webster's company journal, published less than two years after the company completed the BRECO plant, a Stone & Webster engineer summarized the key physical characteristics of a modern power plant:

Unlike a great many buildings, a power station structure has no excuse whatsoever except to house its operating machinery. It should not have added to its proportions any size or embellishments other than those which come naturally to it. Its proportions must be those which its use indicates. It is a semi-public building and therefore its exterior should be dignified, but that dignity must be obtained only by that amount of good proportion and that quiet outside which the limits of the use of the building will permit. Internally there should be nothing except that which contributes to the operation of the station. There is no reason why all materials should not be frankly displayed in their true guise and appearance. The only veneer that is permissible is the paint for the protection of the materials and the diffusion of light.³

Consistent with these design principles, the BRECO power plant's form is a product of its function. The building consists of three defined sections: a recessed 2-story section to the west that housed the boiler room (built in 1924 per the 1923-1951 Sanborn map), a 3-story central section that housed the turbine room, and a recessed 2-story section to the east that housed support spaces (locker rooms, storage, offices, etc.), which was expanded northward (at the rear) to 3 stories in 1930-31 (see photo 3). All three sections are flat-roofed, rectangular masses that are unified by dark-red face-brick on the facade and side elevations, a molded caststone water table, cast-stone entrances and sills, a molded brick band at the 1st-floor level, and a cast-stone coping. Simple brick pilasters extending the height of the building alternate with the window bays on all four elevations to lend the exterior a regular rhythm. The facade of the prominent central section is further defined by layered-brick window bays, a stepped parapet, and a public entrance with an Art Deco-style cast-stone surround that was added in the 1930s, presumably to complement the restrained Art Deco detailing of the new adjacent service building (described below). The upper floors of the plant feature large rectangular metal windows to maximize natural light and ventilation. On the roof of the central section is a long row of clerestory windows with pivoting wood sashes that provide additional light and circulation to the former turbine room. Some 1st-floor windows were replaced in recent years with vinyl sash windows. On the 2nd level of the east elevation, three windows have been infilled with brick.

The building's rear elevation, which is the least visible from the public right-of-way, is tan-colored common brick rather than red face brick. The large metal windows on the upper floors of this elevation are similar to those on the façade except at the east section's 1930-31 addition, which features smaller rectangular window openings fitted with wood sash windows on the 2nd floor and replacement jalousie windows above. The rear entrance has been enlarged. The rear of the west section/boiler room was expanded northward in 1924 to make space for additional equipment, which was needed to meet the ever-increasing demand for power, including the new northbound "Dixie" streetcar line added that year. An L-shaped concrete loading platform was added to the rear of this section in the 1940s.

¹ "The Work of Holabird & Roche, Architects," *The American Architect*, August 1920 (Vol 118): 171.

² "The Baton Rouge Electric Company," Louisiana Chronicle Democrat Souvenir Edition, May 5, 1916.

³ Walter Goodenough, "The Economics of a Power Station," Stone & Webster Journal 20 (May 1917): 349-50.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

Adjacent to the power plant there originally stood a 175-foot concrete smoke stack and a 35-foot-tall water tower. The smoke stack, defunct since the 1930s when the plant ceased generating electricity, was demolished at an unidentified date in the late 20th century, and the water tower was removed in the 1930s.

The interior of the power plant is distinctly industrial in character. Its structural elements, including its steel roof trusses and concrete and steel columns, are clearly expressed. The brick walls are exposed or painted, and the floors are concrete. Some mechanical equipment remains, and a variety of pipes and wiring run unconcealed throughout the space.

The interior of the building, like the exterior, is divided into three principal sections: the former boiler room to the west, the former turbine room at center, and a series of support spaces to the east (locker room, offices, storage, etc.). The boilers in the west section were pumped with water that was heated either by coal or oil to produce steam. This steam was fed into turbines housed in the central room, which provided the energy to spin the turbines' rotors. The spinning turbines fueled generators to produce electricity. The steam was then exhausted into the cooling tower, in this case the smoke stack that originally stood in front of the building, and the condensed steam was returned to the water supply to complete the circuit. A stack piercing the building's roof released the fuel exhaust from the boilers. Circular steel framing in the ceiling of the boiler room appears to indicate the location of this stack.

Between 1915 and 1930, the boiler and turbine rooms were undivided spaces open from floor to ceiling. In the late 1930s, the building was converted into GSU's operational headquarters (as further described in Section 8 below). This involved the removal of the boilers and turbines; the addition of partial 2nd and 3rd floors in the turbine room and reinforced-concrete columns to support the extra weight; and the addition of a full 2nd floor and freight elevator to the boiler room, where the lower portions of the steel columns were encased in concrete to provide additional support. The northern/rear section of the turbine room remains undivided from floor to ceiling, and the original overhead twenty-ton gantry crane, which ran the length of the room to transport equipment, is in place. Engaged brick columns support the rails along which the crane rolled. Between these columns at the 2nd level are expansive arches with cast-stone keystones; some of the arches are open and some are infilled with brick. To protect against boiler explosions, the arches along the firewall separating the boiler and turbine rooms have always been infilled with brick, while some of the arches along the opposite wall were infilled at a later date. The first floor of the eastern section, which housed the building's various support spaces, retains its original brick partitions, which divide the space into offices, mechanical rooms, and storage. As part of the building's 1930s conversion, the 2nd floor was subdivided with CMU partitions to create a control room. Throughout the upper floors of the building, there are a handful of later wood stud-frame partitions dividing the spaces.

Service Building (Photos 17-26):

The 2-story service building was constructed in 1930-31 directly east of the power plant and is oriented south to face Government Street. The walls, columns, floors and roof are reinforced concrete, and interior partitions are primarily hollow clay tile. The exterior is clad in red brick veneer. The 1st floor housed a garage for the company's fleet of service trucks and a storeroom for the company's supplies and merchandise, namely an assortment of electric appliances that BRECO sold to the general public. The second floor housed offices for company engineers and superintendents, meter repair shops, and testing laboratories.

The service building is a simple rectangular mass with a flat roof. Its restrained stylistic detailing is limited to the façade. The front entrance is defined by an Art Deco-style cast-stone surround, with a pair of wood entrance doors and a multi-light transom. The decorative brick cornice is organized in a zigzag relief pattern and topped with a cast-stone coping. Simple brick pilasters with cast-stone caps divide the façade into five bays. The façade windows are 1-over-1 wood sashes. On the side and rear elevations, the windows are steel and the parapet is capped with glazed terra-cotta tile. At the northeast corner of the building is an L-shaped concrete loading platform with a metal-frame overhang along the east elevation.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

The 1st floor of the interior is characterized by concrete floors, painted brick or hollow clay-tile walls, and painted concrete ceilings. The east side of this floor is devoted primarily to storage areas where BRECO's merchandise and supplies were kept. The west side was a garage for the company's service trucks. Portions of this space were later partitioned into offices. Near the front entrance are a series of small office spaces with original wood doors and transoms; some of the ceilings have been dropped. Two stairwells and an original freight elevator provide access to the 2nd floor. The more formal front stairwell retains its original metal balustrade (see Photo 23). The freight elevator still features its original doors.

The upstairs floor plan is organized around a T-shaped corridor and remains largely intact. A number of offices are located near the front/south end of the building, and the meter repair shops and testing laboratories are located at the rear. The floors are asbestos tile or concrete. The ceilings are painted concrete; in some areas the ceilings have been dropped. Though covered or painted over, original features and finishes remain intact throughout the 2nd floor, including paneled wood doors and transoms, painted millwork, and glazed partitions. The late-20th century finishes such as dropped acoustic-tile ceilings, wood wall paneling, and wainscoting are easily removable and in several areas simply conceal the historic finishes.

Garage (Photos 27-28):

A 1-story brick masonry garage dating to the 1930s was constructed behind the service building. The perimeter walls are exposed red brick. The roof is flat with glazed terra-cotta tile capping the parapet. A modern overhead garage door is oriented to face the interior of the BRECO site facing west. The interior of the building is largely open in plan. The walls are exposed brick, the floors are concrete slab, and the ceiling is pre-cast concrete above exposed steel joists. In the late 20th century, a metal canopy and enclosed metal addition were added to the west and north sides of the garage, respectively. Nevertheless, it remains contributing because it is still identifiable on the exterior and interior as an early garage building, and the addition's subordinate location on the north elevation and its compatible scale do not detract from the garage's visual character.

Non-contributing resources (Photos 29-32):

Non-contributing resources located within the boundaries of the historic property include 5 minimal, 1-story metal storage/repair buildings situated toward the rear of the site. Historical maps and the age of the construction materials indicate that these structures were added in the late 1960s and later. In addition, there is a small contemporary guard station situated at the west entrance to the site, and at the southwest corner are a small one-story metal building and a cellular tower, which were added c. 1990 via an easement that Entergy provided to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI). These buildings/structures are considered non-contributing because of their age and because they are generic storage buildings that are not distinctive to the site's historic use as a public utilities complex.

Assessment of Integrity:

Location: The property possesses integrity of location because the buildings remain in their original locations.

Design, Materials, and Workmanship: The property possesses a good degree of exterior and interior integrity of design, materials, and workmanship to clearly communicate the buildings' historic use as a public utilities facility. The power plant and service building have a high degree of exterior integrity, including their brick exteriors, distinctive form and massing, detailed front entrances, arrangement of openings, and several doors and windows. The contributing buildings on the site have been subject to modifications over the years to support new technologies and the changing needs of the community. However, the majority of these modifications took place during the period of significance (1915-1967) and are associated with the buildings' historic changes in use. Modifications made after 1967 are largely reversible and in most instances conceal underlying historic fabric.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

Setting: The property retains integrity of setting in that the surrounding neighborhood largely retains its historic character, with low-rise commercial buildings along Government Street and working-class housing to the north, east, and south. The railroad tracks are still in place to the west of the property, which were a deciding factor in relocating the power plant to Government Street in 1915. The small metal storage/repair buildings added to the rear of the site in the late 20th century are subordinate to the historic buildings in scale and quality of materials and do not detract from the property's historic visual character. The modern cellular tower is in keeping with the industrial character of the site, which at one time included a water tower and smokestack.

Feeling: The near-continuous use of the site as a public utilities complex since its construction, along with the buildings' distinctive massing, frank industrial character, and intact setting lend the site integrity of feeling.

Association: Although the buildings are currently vacant, the property's integrity of location, design, materials, workmanship, setting, and feeling combine to give it integrity of association. A former BRECO/GSU employee would easily recognize these buildings as their former place of work.

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register listing.)

Х	Α	Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
		broad patterns of our history.
	В	Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.
	С	Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack individual distinction.
	D	Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history

Criteria Considerations:

Α	Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes
В	Removed from its original location
С	A birthplace or grave
D	A cemetery
Ε	A reconstructed building, object, or structure
F	A commemorative property
G	Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions.): Industry

Period of Significance: 1915-1967

Significant Dates: 1915-16, 1930-31, 1938-40

Significant Person (Complete only if Criterion B is marked above): N/A

Cultural Affiliation (only if criterion D is marked above): N/A

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

Architect/Builder (last name, first name): Stone & Webster, Inc.

Period of Significance (justification): The period of significance begins in 1915, when the power plant was placed in service, and ends in 1967, the 50-year cut-off, although the buildings continued to serve as a public utilities complex until the 1990s.

Criteria Considerations (explanation, if necessary): N/A

Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any applicable criteria considerations.)

The Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) public utilities complex is locally significant under Criterion A in the area of industry for its association with the history of electric power in Baton Rouge and the city's explosive growth during the first half of the 20th century. It is the primary historic site in the parish associated with electric power. The power plant on the site was Baton Rouge's primary electric generator from 1915 until 1930, at which time the city's demand outgrew the plant's capacity, and the Government Street property became the utility company's operational headquarters, a role it played for more than fifty years. During that time, the site was not only integral to the city's power system, but also served as the public face of the utility company for generations of Baton Rougeans. The period of significance begins in 1915, when the power plant was built, and ends in 1967, the fifty-year cut-off.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of significance.)

Electric Power in Baton Rouge and the History of Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO)

The Introduction of Electricity, 1889-1900

Electric power was introduced in the then-small town of Baton Rouge in 1889, when the Baton Rouge Gas, Electric Light and Power Company, an investor-owned public utility company and predecessor to Baton Rouge Electric Company, installed the first electric streetlights. Upon securing a 99-year franchise to provide Baton Rouge's electric power, the company erected a small 800-kilowatt power plant at North Boulevard and St. Joseph Street to generate enough electricity to run approximately 60 arc lights and 300 incandescent lights, as well as a limited amount of electric light for nearby commercial and industrial enterprises. Soon after the company was formed in February 1889, it merged with Baton Rouge's gas works, which had been in operation since before the Civil War.⁴ Between 1889 and 1900, the utility company changed hands several times as various entrepreneurs and investors searched for a successful business model to suit the unfamiliar complexities of providing electric service. In 1892, the company began powering Baton Rouge's first electric streetcar line, the City Belt Line.⁵

At the end of the 19th century, Baton Rouge was still a small town with a rural character; a 1938 *States-Times* article described it as a "mud-streeted village ...[that] hadn't emerged into a city at that time. Cotton farms and Cherokee briars flanked the section that now bounds the city proper."⁶ In 1880, the city's population was 7,197; by 1900, it had grown modestly to 11,269.⁷ Electric power was limited, unreliable, and an unaffordable luxury for most homeowners, which was typical of most American towns and cities, where gas remained significantly more popular than electricity for residential lighting because it was familiar, and homes were already equipped

⁴ "The Gas, Electric Light and Power Co.," *The Advocate,* March 31, 1889.

⁵ "A Big Deal," *The Advocate*, September 23, 1892. See also TheLeif.org, "Baton Rouge Streetcar Maps (1890-1936)," http://theleif.org/tools/baton-rouge-streetcar-map.php.

⁶ Orene Muse, "Baton Rouge Electric Company Begins Second Generation," *State-Times,* March 17, 1938.

⁷ Bennett H. Wall et al, eds., "Bourbonism, Populism, and a Little Progressivism, 1892-1924," in *Louisiana: A History, Sixth Edition* (West Sussex, England: Wiley Blackwell, 2014), 258.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

for gas.⁸ In addition, the quality of service was mediocre at best. In 1894, Baton Rouge's *Advocate* investigated the electric company's lack of consistency with a touch of humor:

[I]t would appear that the [electric light] company is running on a sort of elastic "moonlight schedule" which can be interpreted to mean anything the interpreter desires it to convey. Thus, whenever the city is plunged in darkness for hours at a time and any complaint is made, the ready answer is forthcoming, "Oh, well, we were running on the moonlight schedule last night, you know."⁹

After 1900, however, electric power would emerge as an indispensable commodity of the modern age, proving itself a key tool in Baton Rouge's transformation from a small town into an industrial capital.

The Growth of Baton Rouge and the Creation of Stone & Webster's Baton Rouge Electric Company, 1900-1930

In 1900, Baton Rouge Electric & Gas Company acquired the city's 99-year franchise and all utilities-related properties, assets, and rights-of-way. According to its charter, the company's purpose was manifold:

To construct and carry on works to supply the City of Baton Rouge and neighboring towns, with electricity and gas; to generate manufacture, sell, utilize, and employ electricity and gas for light, heat and power, or any of them; to establish, build, purchase or lease, and operate, electric and gas plants and works, including electric railways to run and operate in the City of Baton Rouge and adjoining parishes, and the carrying of passengers and freight thereon for pay, and also to make, buy, sell, and deal in any and all kinds of electrical and gas patents, apparatus, and appliances, and do and perform all things appertaining and belonging to electrical and gas business.¹⁰

Like the companies that came before it, Baton Rouge Electric & Gas Company became the exclusive providers of the city's electric and gas service as well as its streetcar service. Then, in 1907, after seven years of operating on its own, Stone & Webster Incorporated, the large Boston-based engineering services company, purchased Baton Rouge Electric & Gas for \$150,000 and renamed it Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO).¹¹ Founded in 1889, Stone & Webster was one of the country's first electrical engineering firms and benefited enormously from the nation's burgeoning enthusiasm for the new technology. At the time of the BRECO sale, it owned or managed 28 other streetcar and electrical systems in the country, from Tacoma to Tampa. It also provided construction services for numerous facilities; among its notable early 20th-century projects were the massive Keokuk hydroelectric power station in Iowa (1909-13) to Massachusetts Institute of Technology's new campus (1913-1916).¹² BRECO was Stone & Webster's first acquisition in Louisiana.

The Boston company's arrival in Baton Rouge and its purchase of the utility company was major news, with daily newspapers providing extensive and enthusiastic coverage of every detail. In one of its many reports, the *Daily State* explained in a front-page story that "the [Stone & Webster] company makes it a business of buying plants and putting them in first class condition. This is what will be done with the Baton Rouge plant….New cars will be put on the line, new rails put down, a new electric light plant built, and practically a new gas plant erected. The street carlines will also be extended."¹³ That a national corporation like Stone & Webster chose to invest in Baton Rouge, a town of about 10,000 people, expressed confidence in the town's growth potential, and the company had the expertise in management, engineering, and financing that small companies like BRECO needed to expand and modernize and thereby realize that potential. Stone & Webster's predictions for the town's future were soon proven correct when, in 1909, John D. Rockefeller's Standard Oil Company

⁹ "The Moonlight Schedule," *The Advocate,* November 25, 1894.

⁸ David E. Nye, *Electrifying America: Social Meanings of a New Technology* (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 1990), 8.

¹⁰ "Charter of Baton Rouge Electric and Gas Co.," *Weekly Advocate,* May 5, 1900.

¹¹ Louis C. Hennick, *Street Railways of Louisiana* (Gretna, LA: Pelican Publishing Company, 1998), 27; and "Old Officers of Electric Company Resign and New Officers Elected," *The Daily States,* February 15, 1907.

¹² "Railroad News from All Around," *Daily Picayune,* February 16, 1907; and David Neal Keller, *Stone & Webster, 1889-1989: A Century of Service* (New York: Stone & Webster Incorporated, 1989), 9-84.

¹³ "Old Officers of Electric Company Resign and New Officers Elected," *The Daily States*, February 15, 1907.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

opened a refinery north of town. According to historian Mark T. Carleton, with the introduction of Standard Oil of Louisiana, Baton Rouge "would change almost overnight from a town serving agriculture to a city flourishing with industry."¹⁴ This industry, and the modern city that rapidly developed around it, needed significant electric power, and BRECO would be equipped to provide it.

BRECO's services were substantially and swiftly improved under Stone & Webster's watch, much to the town's approval. In 1911, the *State-Times Advocate* opined that

[t]o Stone & Webster, the Boston street car and electric lighting specialists, Baton Rouge has felt thus far the kindliest spirit. The corporation purchased a plant and going business, which Baton Rougeans had shown their inability to manage and maintain, and have since then, spent considerable sums in betterment, have given infinitely better service than ever before was offered, both in street transportation, in electric lighting and in fuel and illumination gas.¹⁵

The article went on to appeal for a second streetcar line, which BRECO established two years later as the East Boulevard Line.¹⁶ In addition, foreseeing the need for more power, Stone & Webster had long planned for a new, larger power plant, which was announced in 1915. First publicized in April of that year, the new plant was to be erected on a generous Government Street parcel conveniently located just east of the L. R. & N. (Louisiana Railway & Navigation Co.) passenger depot. Rather than simply rebuild on the location of the existing North Boulevard plant, which was to be demolished upon the new plant's completion, the company chose to move to Government Street because it offered ample space for the facility's anticipated future expansion. In addition, the new site's proximity to the railroad line would greatly improve drayage to and from the plant site as compared to the old site, which was a fair distance from railroad and streetcar lines.¹⁷ The plant was to be modern and have a capacity of about 2,000 kilowatts, more than twice the amount of power of the old plant. The *State-Times Advocate* reported that "the erection of the power plant at a time when money is tight indicates that the Stone and Webster Company has great faith in the growth of Baton Rouge. The plant will be built to more than take care of the immediate needs of the city, but will allow for high increase in the city's development."¹⁸ (Figure 1) The new facility was placed in service in December 1915, and its official grand opening was held in March 1916. In its coverage of the opening, the same newspaper wrote that

The new power station, which is modern in every respect and represents the latest design in power plant engineering, was built by the Baton Rouge Electric company to provide for their increased patronage and is evidence of the faith the company has in the steady growth of the city in the future. The capacity of the plant is about double that of the old plant on North Boulevard. In addition to the operation of the street railway, the company has 1,842 electric customers.¹⁹

BRECO's faith in the town's "steady growth" was well placed, for the next few decades proved to be a period of immense progress. During this period, Baton Rouge transformed into a modern city, and the new Government Street plant played a central role in making this transformation possible. In addition to the introduction of Standard Oil of Louisiana, which injected an incredible sum of money into the town's economy and employed 1,800 people by 1915, the city also annexed several surrounding communities to add another 5,000 people to its population by 1930.²⁰ The population more than doubled between 1910 and 1930, from 14,897 to 30,729.²¹ The BRECO plant was continuously modified to keep pace, supporting growing numbers of residential customers, a new streetcar line (the northbound "Dixie" line to Standard Oil opened in 1924), and several new industries following in Standard Oil's footsteps. In 1922, BRECO added another 1,500 kilowatt unit to meet

¹⁶ TheLeif.org, "Baton Rouge Streetcar Maps (1890-1936)," http://theleif.org/tools/baton-rouge-streetcar-map.php.

¹⁴ Mark T. Carleton, *River Capital: An Illustrated History of Baton Rouge* (Sun Valley, CA: American Historical Press, 1996), 157.

¹⁵ "More Street Car Facilities," *State-Times Advocate*, October 18, 1911.

¹⁷ "Stone and Webster Co.'s New Power Plant," State-Times Advocate, August 25, 1915.

¹⁸ "New and Modern Power Plant to Be Erected on Government St," State-Times Advocate, April 24, 1915.

¹⁹ "Hundreds Visit New Power Plant," *State-Times Advocate,* March 18, 1916.

²⁰ "More Progress Looms for Baton Rouge with Approach of New Year," *State-Times Advocate,* December 31, 1930; and Carleton, *River Capital,* 157.

²¹ Wall et al, eds., *Louisiana: A History*, *Sixth Edition*, 258.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

demand, and just two years later, it added another 3,500 kilowatt unit, bringing the plant's total capacity to 6,500 kilowatts.²²

After its first decades as a marvelous yet strange and unreliable luxury, electric power had been accepted as an engine of progress. It was now believed that a lack of adequate power hampered growth. Writing about one of BRECO's many phases of expansion, one 1923 newspaper editorial explained that

[a] public utility must meet the growth of the city if the growth of the city is not to be stunted. Wise management therefore looks ahead—and makes provision for a continual program of development. They cannot wait until the need is pressing before making provision. Baton Rouge has been fortunate in the extensions which the Baton Rouge Electric company has made....[and] has received splendid service from this local utility. The enlargements in the gas and electric plants have generously taken care of the city's needs, but with the city's growth expansion is needed; and a million dollars in the next two years is perhaps not too much for the company to plan to spend for the extension and improvement of its service.²³

BRECO understood that its service was linked to the city's future success. Throughout the 1920s, it spent millions of dollars not just on infrastructure in Baton Rouge but extensions into adjacent communities. Soon new electric lines radiated in all directions from the city. In 1925, BRECO acquired Port Allen's electric plant west of the city and extended its services there, followed by new lines reaching to Southern University, Baker, and Zachary.²⁴ In 1929-30, it acquired Denham Springs's electric and gas company, the small generating plant and distribution system in Maringouin, and an ice manufacturing business in Gonzales.²⁵ To the west and northwest, it extended service to Grosse Tete, the area around False River, and to Morganza, serving several communities and rural areas in between.²⁶ Miles of new transmission lines were strung up everywhere, heralding the modern age. Despite its best efforts, BRECO was eventually unable to meet such a high demand with its Government Street plant alone, and in 1929 it struck a deal with Gulf States Utilities of Beaumont, Texas, to buy additional electric power to route through its new lines.²⁷ By 1930, BRECO was servicing approximately 31 communities including Baton Rouge proper, and its electric customers had increased exponentially from just 672 in 1908 to 10,391.²⁸ Describing this era of the company's history, a 1938 newspaper article stated that "[f]ollowing the growth of the city, the Baton Rouge Electric company was quick step after step marching forward."²⁹

During this period of expansion, one of the most significant sources of demand was the residential market. In the 1920s especially, house electrification was transitioning from a luxury into a necessity, as electricity became more familiar and, most importantly, more affordable, especially for urban consumers. This exponential increase in residential electric customers was typical of national trends. In the United States, home electrification soared from 10 percent in 1910 to 70 percent in 1930.³⁰ Appliances like electric stoves, refrigerators, percolators, and curling irons were being produced in mass quantities and at a variety of price points, making them more attainable than ever before (in Baton Rouge, BRECO was a primary purveyor of appliances through its showroom on Florida Street). A 1926 illustration in *Popular Science Monthly* captures how thoroughly electric power was changing the typical American home. The writer marvels that "electricity is

²² Marcia Hammond, "Baton Rouge Electric Company," Stone & Webster Journal (April 1931): 256.

²³ "Extensions and Public Service," *State-Times Advocate*, April 23, 1923.

²⁴ Henry Ricks Fussell, *Kilowatts+Kilowatts+Kilowatts: The Story of Gulf States Utilities Company 1912-1947* (master's thesis, Lamar State College of Technology, 1966), 130-143.

²⁵ Ibid.

²⁶ Hammond, "Baton Rouge Electric Company," 257-260.

²⁷ Hammond, 257.

²⁸ Hammond, 257, 260.

²⁹ Orene Muse, "Baton Rouge Electric Company Begins Second Generation," *State-Times,* March 17, 1938.

³⁰ Nye, *Electrifying America*, 16.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

changing our homes so swiftly and yet so smoothly that the younger generation can scarcely conceive of homes as they were thirty years ago."³¹ (Figure 3)

Baton Rouge newspapers in the 1920s and 1930s were filled with BRECO advertisements and articles touting the benefits and affordability of electric light and power at home. Often described as miraculous and magical, electricity was now a realistic modern convenience as well. A 1925 BRECO advertisement suggests in bold letters, "Let's Go Back to Candles....Your answer would be 'No.'...Electricity is the cheapest light that humanity has ever had. The average family pays less for electric light than for cream with the breakfast coffee."³² (Figure 2) In an article entitled "Electricity, Magic Servant, is Always at Command of All Those Building Homes in Delmont Place," the *Morning Advocate* waxes poetic about the benefits of home electrification, particularly for housewives, and touts BRECO's role in making it all possible:

"What is a home without a mother?" sang the orphan in the old sentimental ballad and this lament might appropriately be paraphrased, "What is home without electricity?"

Electricity, the best and most natural artificial daylight, is an essential in the home where convenience, comfort, safety, and home-like effects are under consideration and the builders of Delmont Place have not neglected to furnish their customers and future buyers of lots with electrical facilities through the Baton Rouge Electric company, which supplied the suburb with the magic current....

But wonderful as lighting by electricity seems, equally marvelous is the extent to which the housewife's burden has been lightened by this all-zealous servant. The vacuum cleaner has practically turned the old-fashioned broom into a relic of the past...

It is the Baton Rouge Electric Company, part of the great Stone and Webster organization which extends to all quarters of the globe, that makes this service possible to the "Home Beautiful" and to all of Baton Rouge.³³

BRECO after 1930

As BRECO entered the 1930s, this trend of expansion and progress continued unabated, as the company extended into other adjacent communities, new industries moved into the area, and residential electrification grew into a ubiquitous commodity.

A 1933 civic boosterism newspaper advertisement with the headline "We Believe in Baton Rouge!" focuses in particular on BRECO's many accomplishments, including its tireless expansion efforts: "As the city has grown in usefulness, beauty, and efficient service," the ad reads, "so have the public utilities located within Baton Rouge expanded, adding additional facilities to this already modern city."³⁴ (Figure 5) Between 1930 and 1933, despite the effects of the Great Depression, the company added 275 miles of transmission and distribution lines, including a connection to Louisiana Power & Light's system at Sorrento for emergency interchange (LP&L served north Louisiana and the extreme southeast portion of the state), and extensions down to Plaquemine, east to Doyle, and north to Norwood.³⁵ By 1938, it was furnishing electric power to 54 communities in addition to the city of Baton Rouge, including several rural areas that were electrified for the first time under the Rural Electrification Act of 1936.³⁶

All of this expanded service was managed from the Government Street site, which was updated to better serve the company's changing needs. In 1930-31, at a cost of \$86,000, BRECO constructed a 2-story service building adjacent to the power plant to centralize company operations.³⁷ Like the modifications to the power

³³ "Electricity, Magic Servant, is Always at Command of all the Building Homes in Delmond Place," *Morning Advocate*, August 9, 1925.
³⁴ "Electricity, Magic Servant, is Always at Command of all the Building Homes in Delmond Place," *Morning Advocate*, August 9, 1925.

³⁵ "We Believe in Baton Rouge," *State-Times Advocate,* July 14, 1933.

³¹ This *Popular Science Monthly* illustration, published on page 20 of its March 1926 issue, was reproduced in Merritt Ierley's *The Comforts of Home: The American House and the Evolution of Modern Convenience* (New York: Three Rivers Press, 1999), 178. ³² "Let's Go Back to Candles," *State-Times Advocate*, August 21, 1925.

³⁶ "Electric Company Hearing April 4," State-Times Advocate, March 19, 1938.

³⁷ Hammond, 259-60; and "More Progress Looms for Baton Rouge with Approach of New Year," State-Times Advocate, December 31,

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

plant, the addition of this facility was a product of the city's ongoing growth and its increasing reliance on BRECO's services, which required the company to modernize and streamline. The new service building provided garage space for the storage and maintenance of BRECO's large fleet of service trucks previously housed in its old streetcar barn, which was subsequently demolished. All of the company's gas-related services were also moved into the new building. On the 1st floor was a large stock room to store supplies and electric appliances for sale in BRECO's downtown showroom. Office space, meter repair shops, and laboratories were housed on the 2nd floor. A small standalone garage building was soon added behind the service building. Merging all of these activities onto one site and thereby improving company efficiency allowed BRECO to better serve its ever-increasing customer base.

As the service center was going up, Stone & Webster constructed an immense "super-power" plant north of the city known as Louisiana Station. Constructed for the recently formed Louisiana Steam Products, Inc., a Stone & Webster subsidiary company, the primary purpose of the new facility was to provide wholesale steam and electric power to the nearby Standard Oil refinery and other industrial operations in the vicinity. At a cost of \$6 million, the plant had a capacity of 45,000 kilowatts, a level of power that far exceeded what the existing Government Street plant could provide.³⁸ Since the latter was already struggling to meet the city's escalating demand, BRECO began purchasing Louisiana Steam Products' excess electricity for distribution on its vast network of transmission lines, and the Government Street plant was held in reserve.³⁹

In 1935, Congress passed the Public Utility Holding Company Act to facilitate the regulation of public utilities, which had become tainted by corrupt business practices. Holding companies were forced to either limit their activities to a single state, thereby subjecting them to state regulations, or consolidate their holdings based on limited geographical areas. This landmark legislation was the first federal intervention into the world of public utilities and significantly altered their management nationwide, including Stone & Webster's interests. The company subsequently divested itself of its public utilities holdings, and in 1938 BRECO, Louisiana Steam Generating Corporation (the new name of Louisiana Steam Products), and Gulf States Utilities (GSU) of Beaumont, Texas, were consolidated under one of Stone & Webster's former subsidiaries, Engineers Public Service.⁴⁰ The new company took the GSU name, and former Stone & Webster employees became its head officers.⁴¹

This upheaval in public utilities management coupled with local demand resulted in the next significant phase in the history of the Government Street site. In the late 1930s, GSU updated BRECO's dormant power plant to function as its operational headquarters, housing offices, machine shops, a control room, and additional storage, among other uses. Like previous modifications to the site, this conversion from plant to operations center was a reflection of Baton Rouge's exponential growth during the first half of the 20th century. By the 1930s, the city's 1915 power plant—considered modern in every way and designed to expand well beyond its original capacity when it was completed—was already obsolete. No amount of updating could supply the city's demand, as the population increased more than fourfold between 1930 and 1950, from 30,729 to 125,629.⁴² However, the level of electric supply that such a large customer base demanded did require a modern, well-equipped operations center, which became the Government Street site's role for more than fifty years. From the 1930s until the 1990s, when GSU was acquired by Entergy, the Government Street site provided the support functions that the utility company so critically needed. While Louisiana Station and GSU's other generating plants provided the power, the Government Street site served as the company's public face and provided the city with a centralized location for all other functions and services, from electric meter repair to service calls to management of the city's entire electric grid.

1930.

⁴¹ Keller, 164.

³⁸ Russell, *Kilowatts+Kilowatts+Kilowatts*, 133.

³⁹ "Super-power Station Here Fast Nearing," State-Times Advocate, April 11, 1930; and Russell, 138.

⁴⁰ Keller, Stone & Webster, 1889-1989, 162-64; and "Local Power Utilities Are to Be Merged," State-Times Advocate, February 23, 1938.

⁴² U.S. Bureau of the Census, "Population of the 100 Largest Urban Places: 1950,"

https://www.census.gov/population/www/documentation/twps0027/tab18.txt.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

In the late 1960s and beyond, new metal shed-type buildings were added to the site as the need for storage increased, and some interior modifications were made to reflect the tastes of the period. In 1983, the section of South 16th Street running along the east boundary of the site was revocated by the City, and the land was incorporated into GSU's holdings. At that time, the site was extended east to South 17th Street, completing the property's current configuration.

Comparison to Other Public Utilities Complexes

As an early 20th-century public utilities complex, the Government Street site is the primary historic site associated with electric power in East Baton Rouge Parish. The significantly smaller North Boulevard power plant that preceded it was demolished in 1915. Louisiana Station, which still appears to be in operation, is not directly comparable because, as a wholesale power station designed for industrial supply, it is substantially different in character from the BRECO site. It is not readily accessible nor does it have any relationship to the public sphere. Louisiana State University constructed its own dedicated power plant to service its earlier campus north of downtown Baton Rouge (demolished), and built another campus plant after its move south in the 1920s. Today, all that remains of this latter plant is a smokestack.⁴³ The Dixie Electric Membership Corporation (DEMCO) was founded in 1938 as a co-operative of rural families who joined to run power lines into their communities using power it purchased wholesale. Originally located in a small wood-frame warehouse at 1900 North Street, the company moved its headquarters to 1900 Airline Highway in the early 1950s.⁴⁴ From these two sites DEMCO managed the power supply to a very small segment of East Baton Rouge Parish residents. All other power stations associated with Gulf States Utilities are located outside of the parish or in Texas; the oldest station, Neches Station in Beaumont, Texas, was built in the 1920s, and the newest station, River Bend Station in St. Francisville, Louisiana, was constructed in the 1980s.

The Government Street site, by contrast, was an integral part of electric power supply to the entire city of Baton Rouge from 1915 onward. Its former power plant and service building, the two primary buildings that define it as a historic public utilities complex, both possess sufficient exterior and interior integrity to convey their historic significance. They are sited near the front property line in engagement with Government Street, and the site also retains its visual and spatial relationship with the street, signifying its historic role as a semi-public facility.

Conclusion

The BRECO public utilities complex is the product of a historic era in Baton Rouge's growth and development. As Baton Rouge evolved from a small town at the turn of the 20th century into a modern, industrial-fueled capital, BRECO grew with it, expanding its facilities and services as the community demanded. The electric power that BRECO provided developed from a novel luxury into a catalyst of progress and an indispensable commodity of the modern age. Once the power plant became obsolete after 1930, the Government Street site grew to function as the utility company's operational headquarters, a role it played for over fifty years. More than any other site in the parish, the BRECO complex embodies Baton Rouge's history of electric power, and is therefore eligible for listing in the National Register.

Developmental History/Additional historic context information

See above.

9. Major Bibliographical Resources

⁴³ Matthew Albright, "Cogeneration Plant provides power, steam to campus," February 17, 2011, Isunow.com,

http://www.lsunow.com/multimedia/cogeneration-plant-provides-power-steam-to-campus/article_3dcc0562-13a9-5169-a7ec-330cbf3762a8.html.

⁴⁴ "REA Project Contracts Let," *State-Times Advocate*, June 10, 1939; and "Dixie Electric Lets Contract for New Building," *State-Times Advocate*, January 27, 1951.

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

Bibliography (Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form.)

The Advocate. "A Big Deal," September 23, 1892.

_____. "The Gas, Electric Light and Power Co.," March 31, 1889.

_____. "The Moonlight Schedule," November 25, 1894.

- Albright, Matthew. "Cogeneration Plant provides power, steam to campus." Isunow.com, February 17, 2011, <u>http://www.lsunow.com/multimedia/cogeneration-plant-provides-power-steam-to-campus/article_3dcc0562-13a9-5169-a7ec-330cbf3762a8.html</u>.
- The American Architect. "The Work of Holabird & Roche, Architects," The American Architect, August 1920 (Vol 118): 165-172.
- Carleton, Mark T. *River Capital: An Illustrated History of Baton Rouge.* Sun Valley, CA: American Historical Press, 1996.
- Cartographic Information Center, Louisiana State University, Department of Geography and Antrhopology. Aerial photograph, 1931.

Daily Picayune. "Railroad News from All Around," February 16, 1907.

The Daily States. "Old Officers of Electric Company Resign and New Officers Elected," February 15, 1907.

Fussell, Henry Ricks. *Kilowatts+Kilowatts+Kilowatts: The Story of Gulf States Utilities Company, 1912-1947.* Master's thesis, Lamar State College of Technology, 1966.

Goodenough, Walter. "The Economics of a Power Station." Stone & Webster Journal 20 (May 1917): 335-350.

Gulf States Utilities. Plain Talks, http://gsupictures.com/.

Hammond, Marcia. "Baton Rouge Electric Company." Stone & Webster Journal (April 1931): 255-260.

Hennick, Louis C. Street Railways of Louisiana. Gretna, LA: Pelican Publishing Company, 1998.

- Ierley, Merritt. The Comforts of Home: The American House and the Evolution of Modern Convenience. New York: Three Rivers Press, 1999.
- Keller, David Neal. Stone & Webster, 1889-1989: A Century of Service. New York: Stone & Webster Incorporated, 1989.

Louisiana Chronicle Democrat Souvenir Edition. "The Baton Rouge Electric Company," May 5, 1916.

- *Morning Advocate*. "Electricity, Magic Servant, is Always at Command of all the Building Homes in Delmond Place," August 9, 1925.
- Muse, Orene. "Baton Rouge Electric Company Begins Second Generation." *State-Times Advocate,* March 17, 1938.

Nye, David E. Electrifying America: Social Meanings of a New Technology. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press, 1990.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex Name of Property East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, 1891, 1916, 1923, 1923-46, 1923-49, 1923-69.

Smith, Thaddeus. Phone interview with Gabrielle Begue, September 6, 2016.

State-Times Advocate. "Dixie Electric Lets Contract for New Building," January 27, 1951.

- _____. "Extensions and Public Service," April 23, 1923.
- _____. "Hundreds Visit New Power Plant," March 18, 1916.
- _____. "Let's Go Back to Candles," August 21, 1925.
- _____. "Local Power Utilities Are to Be Merged," February 23, 1938.
- _____. "More Progress Looms for Baton Rouge with Approach of New Year," December 31, 1930.
- _____. "More Street Car Facilities," October 18, 1911.
- _____. "New and Modern Power Plant to Be Erected on Government St," April 24, 1915.
- _____. "REA Project Contracts Let," June 10, 1939.
- _____. "Stone and Webster Co.'s New Power Plant," August 25, 1915.
- _____. "Super-power Station Here Fast Nearing," State-Times Advocate, April 11, 1930.
- _____. "We Believe in Baton Rouge," July 14, 1933.

TheLeif.org. "Baton Rouge Streetcar Maps (1890-1936)," http://theleif.org/tools/baton-rouge-streetcar-map.php.

U.S. Bureau of the Census. "Population of the 100 Largest Urban Places: 1950," https://www.census.gov/population/www/documentation/twps0027/tab18.txt.

Wall Bennett H., et al, eds. "Bourbonism, Populism, and a Little Progressivism, 1892-1924," in *Louisiana: A History, Sixth Edition.* West Sussex, England: Wiley Blackwell, 2014.

Weekly Advocate. "Charter of Baton Rouge Electric and Gas Co.," May 5, 1900.

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

- <u>X</u> preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested previously listed in the National Register
- ____previously determined eligible by the National Register
- _____designated a National Historic Landmark
- recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #_____
- ____recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # _____
- _____ recorded by Historic American Landscape Survey # _____

Primary location of additional data:

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

<u>x</u> State Historic Preservation Office Other State agency	
Federal agency	
Local government	
University	
_X Other	
Name of repository: <u>East Bate</u>	n Rouge Parish Library, Baton Rouge Room Collection
Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned):N/A

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property: 3.165 acres

Latitude/Longitude Coordinates **(Note: Numbers correspond to locations on enclosed survey map dated 6/21/2002)

Datum if other than WGS84:

(enter coordinates to 6 decimal places)

\	
1. Latitude: 30.444792	Longitude: -91.173396
2. Latitude: 30.444831	Longitude: -91.172265
3. Latitude: 30.443808	Longitude: -91.172218
4. Latitude: 30.443778	Longitude: -91.173360

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property.)

The BRECO site consists of "Tract 3" as drawn on the enclosed survey map dated June 21, 2002, and is bounded by Government Street to the south, South 15th Street to the west, Spain Street to the north, and a revocated portion of South 16th Street to the east.

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) These boundaries consitute the historic boundaries of the site as it appeared during the period of significance. The site was expanded east in 1983 ("Tract 2" on the enclosed survey map) when the City revocated a portion of South 16th Street, but this portion of the lot is not included within the boundaries for the nomination.

11. Form Prepared By

name/title: Gabrielle Begue/Principal organization: Clio Associates LLC street & number: 1139 Oretha Castle Haley Boulevard city or town: New Orleans state: LA zip code: 70113 e-mail: gabrielle@clioassociates.com telephone: (504) 858-4426 date: January 10, 2017

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

- Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
- **Sketch map** for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. Key all photographs to this map.
- Additional items: (Check with the SHPO, TPO, or FPO for any additional items.)

Photographs

Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 3000x2000 at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer, photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn't need to be labeled on every photograph.

Photo Log

Name of Property: Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) Public Utilities Complex City or Vicinity: Baton Rouge County: East Baton Rouge Parish State: Louisiana Name of Photographer: Gabrielle Begue Date of Photographs: August 24, 2016

01 of 31

View from corner of Government Street and S. 15th Street. Camera facing northeast.

02 of 31

Rear/north and west elevations of power plant. Camera facing southeast.

<u>03 of 31</u>

Rear/north elevation of power plant. Camera facing southwest.

<u>04 of 31</u>

Façade/south and east elevation of power plant. Camera facing northwest.

05 of 31

Front entrance to power plant. Camera facing north.

<u>06 of 31</u>

West wall of turbine room looking toward boiler room. Camera facing west.

<u>07 of 31</u>

Turbine room looking east toward 1st and 2nd floor support spaces. Camera facing east.

<u>08 of 31</u>

1930s partitions, 1st floor of turbine room. Camera facing east.

<u>09 of 31</u>

1st floor of boiler room. Camera facing south.

10 of 31

Freight elevator, 1st floor boiler room. Camera facing west.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

<u>11 of 31</u>

Storage room, 2nd floor east section. Camera facing south.

12 of 31

View of turbine room from 2nd floor of east section/storage area. Camera facing west.

13 of 31

View of 2nd and 3rd floor partitions in turbine room from 2nd-floor stair landing. Camera facing southwest.

14 of 31

 2^{nd} floor of boiler room showing exposed steel framing. Camera facing northeast.

15 of 31

View of gantry crane from 3rd floor. Camera facing northwest.

<u>16 of 31</u>

Exposed steel framing and clerestory windows, 3rd floor of turbine room. Camera facing southwest.

17 of 31

Façade and east elevation of service building. Camera facing northwest.

<u>18 of 31</u>

Front entrance to service building. Camera facing north.

19 of 31

Façade and west elevation of service building. Camera facing northeast.

20 of 31

Storage area on 1st floor of service building. Camera facing south.

21 of 31

Front offices on 1st floor of service building. Camera facing west.

22 of 31

Garage in 1st floor of service building. Camera facing south.

23 of 31

Stair to 2nd floor service building. Camera facing southwest.

24 of 31

2nd floor office in service building. Camera facing southwest.

<u>25 of 31</u>

 2^{nd} floor meter repair/labs, service building. Camera facing north.

<u>26 of 31</u>

2nd floor meter repair/labs, service building. Camera facing west.

<u>27 of 31</u>

1930s brick garage with metal-frame addition and canopy. Camera facing northeast.

28 of 31

Garage interior. Camera facing southeast.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

<u>29 of 31</u>

View of non-contributing sheds. Camera looking northwest.

<u>30 of 31</u>

View of non-contributing sheds. Camera looking north.

<u>31 of 31</u>

View of non-contributing guard station. Camera looking southwest.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State



Figure 1. The Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) power plant shortly after it was completed in 1916. *Louisiana Chronicle Democrat Souvenir Edition*, May 6, 1916. From the Baton Rouge Digital Library, East Baton Rouge Parish Library,

http://batonrougedigitalarchive.contentdm.oclc.org/cdm/singleitem/collection/p15196coll2/id/464/rec/1.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State



Figure 2. One of BRECO's many advertisements touting the benefits and affordability of electric light and power for residential customers. *State-Times Advocate*, August 21, 1925.

HEATER

ENTILATOR

FRATOR

HEATER

KITCHEN UND

SS

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State

Marvels of the Electric Home How New Inventions Utilize Electric Light, Heat, and ELECTRICITY is changing our homes so swiftly and yet so smoothly that the younger generation today can scarcely con-Power in Every Room We swittly and yet so smoothly that the younger generation today can scarcely con-ceive of homes as they were thirty years ago. One marvelous device after another has been imagined, invented and perfected. One irksome household task after another has been inghtened or eliminated. The electric washer and ironer are producing a new race of laun-dry-gird-young, trim, girls who "wash by machine only." The vacuum cleaner has brought order out of the annual chaos of spring housecleaning. The electric refrigera-tor promises to make the iceman a pictur-esquemenory. Electricity cools us, warms us, and cools our food. Every nation has its ideal home. In the electrical home, it seems, America has found its own ideal. Partly responsible for this is our lack of groove-bound traditions; partly, the activity of our scientists, electrical men and inventors. At least the ideal we are offer-ing the world is something entirely new--that of a home beautiful and comfortable, but, and the set of the num. of the House

HAIL

of a nome beautiful and comfortable, but, above all, easy to run. It is not often given to inventors and scientists to see the direct fruits of their labors so strikingly benefiting their own gen-eration. Even more inspiring is the thought that there are countless electrical inventions vet to be made



Figure 3. This illustration published in the March 1926 issue of Popular Science Monthly shows how residential electrification revolutionized daily life. BRECO powered this revolution for Baton Rouge area. "Marvels of the Electric Home," Popular Science Monthly 108 no. 3 (March 1926): 20.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA

County and State



Figure 4. Front cover of the April 1928 issue of *Cane Seeds*, BRECO's short-lived company magazine. The cover photograph was likely taken in front of the company's downtown showroom. A sketch of the power plant building viewed from the northeast is visible in the lower left corner of the masthead. From a reproduction in Gulf States Utilities' October 1954 issue of *Plain Talks*.

BRECO Public Utilities Complex

Name of Property

East Baton Rouge Parish, LA County and State



Figure 5. This full-page newspaper advertisement published in July 1933 boasts of the many ways BRECO has improved Baton Rouge over the years, including its tireless expansion efforts. *State-Times Advocate*, July 14, 1933.

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 et seq.).
Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 100 hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC.



Latitude: 30.444313 Longitude: -91.172817



Latitude: 30.444313 Longitude: -91.172817

BRECO Public Utilities Complex, East Baton Rouge Parish, LA



SITE SURVEY - LARGER PARCEL



S 17TH ST.



BATON ROUGE

STREET,

	1509 GOVERNMENT	DYKE NELSON ARCHITECTURE 235 SOU
REVISION	IS	
	BER:	16-017
SUED:		07/22/16
ISSI	JED FO	DR:
CONS	TRUC	FION
HESE DRAWII F DYKE NELS ND ARE NOT D ARE NOT D BE USED F TE SPECIFIC CALES STATI N THE ORIG DNTRACTOR W ALL DIMEM HOWN AND F ECT ANY ERR R OMISSIONS LANS WERE SION AND T NOWLEDGE ND LOCAL CO	NGS ARE TH ON ARCHITE TO BE REP PART. THE FOR THE PF ALLY IDENTI ED HEREON INAL DRAW SHALL CARI USIONS AND CORS, INCON S DISCOVERI E PREPARE OUR PERS TO THE BE COMPLY NO DDES.	E PROPERT COTURE, LLC RODUCED IN OJECT AND FIED HEREIN INGS ONLY EFULLY REV CONDITION: EFULLY REV CONDITION: SISTENCIES ED. THE ARCH ISISTENCIES ED IN THIS ONAL SUPEF SIT OF OUF WITH STATE

FIRST FLOOR PLAN



PHASE:

CD



BATON ROUGE

STREET,

509 GOVERNMENT

		6
REVISIONS	5	
	ER:	16-017
SSUED:	0	8/01/16
ISSUI	ED FO	R:
CONST	RUCT	ION
HESE DRAWING DF DYKE NELSON ND ARE NOT TO VHOLE OR IN P O BE USED FO SITE SPECIFICAL	S ARE THE N ARCHITEC D BE REPRO ART. THEY R THE PRO LY IDENTIFI	PROPERT TURE, LLC ODUCED IN ARE ONL JECT AND ED HEREIN
ICALES STATED IN THE ORIGIN, IONTRACTOR SF EW ALL DIMENSI HOWN AND RE TECT ANY ERROJ ROMISSIONS D LANS WERE OFFICE UNDER C (NOWLEDGE (AND LOCAL COD	AL DRAWIN AL DRAWIN HALL CAREF ONS AND C PORT TO T RS, INCONS ISCOVEREL PREPARED UR PERSOI THE BES COMPLY W ES.	ARE VALIE IGS ONLY ULLY REV ONDITION HE ARCHI ISTENCIES D.THESE IN THIS NAL SUPEI T OF OUF ITH STATE

SECOND FLOOR PLAN	-
EAST	

	A1.2
PHASE:	

CD



SECOND FLOOR PLAN - WEST

BATON ROUGE

STREET,

GOVERNMENT

509

	~		DΥ
REVISIONS	;		
	R:	16	-017
SSUED:		08/0	1/16
ISSUE	ED F	OR:	
CONST	RUC	TIO	Ν
HESE DRAWING F DYKE NELSON ND ARE NOT TO HOLE OR IN P. O BE USED FOI ITE SPECIFICALI CALES STATED N THE ORIGIN/ ONTRACTOR SI- EW ALL DIMENSI HOWN AND REI ECT ANY ERROF R OMISSIONS D LANS WERE OFFICE UNDER O ISION AND TO (NOWLEDGE C ND LOCAL COD	S ARE 1 I ARCHI D BE RE ART. TH R THE F. Y IDEN HERE(AL DRA IALL CA ONS AN PORT T RS, INCC ISCOVE PREPAI UR PER THE I COMPLY ES.	THE PRO TECTUF PRODU HEY ARE PROJEC TIFIED H DN ARE WINGS REFULL D CONE O THE DNSISTE RED.TH RED IN SONAL BEST O	DPERT RE, LLC CCED II E ONLU T AND HEREIN VALIII VALII VALII VALII VALII VALII VALII VALII VALII VALII

SECOND FLOOR PLAN -WEST

A1.1 PHASE: CD



BATON ROUGE,

STREET,

509 GOVERNMENT

	~		DY
REVISIONS			
	R:	16-	-017
SSUED:		08/0	1/16
ISSUE	ED F	OR:	
CONST	RUC	τιοι	N
HESE DRAWING: F DYKE NELSON ND ARE NOT TC (HOLE OR IN P/ O BE USED FOF ITE SPECIFICALL CALES STATED N THE ORIGINA/ ONTRACTOR SH W ALL DIMENSIG HOWN AND REF ECT ANY ERROF R OMISSIONS DI LANS WERE FFICE UNDER O ISION AND TO (NOWLEDGE C IND LOCAL CODI	S ARE TH ARCHIT BE REF ART. TH R THE PI Y IDENT HEREO L DRAW ALL CAR DORT TC S, INCO SCOVER PREPAR UR PERS THE B OMPLY ES.	HE PRC ECTUR PRODU- EY ARE ROJEC IFIED H N ARE /INGS REFULL O COND O THE / NSISTE RED.THI ED IN SONAL EST O WITH	PERT E, LLC CED II ONL T ANL IEREII VALII ONLY Y REV ITION ARCHI NCIES ESE THI SUPEI F OUI STATE

THIRD FLOOR PLAN

	A1.3	
PHASE:		С







DNAworks



GARAGE BUILDING - FLOOR PLAN 1/8" = 1'-0"

BRECO Public Utilities Complex East Baton Rouge Parish, LA Garage, Interior Photo Key

<

BATON ROUGE,

STREET,

509 GOVERNMENT

	$\overline{}$		Δ
REVISIONS			
IOB NUMBE	R:	16-	017
SSUED:		09/02	2/16
ISSUE	D F	OR:	
CONST	RUC	TIOI	N
HESE DRAWINGS F DYKE NELSON ND ARE NOT TO VHOLE OR IN PA O BE USED FOR ITE SPECIFICALL CALES STATED IN THE ORIGINA CONTRACTOR SH. EW ALL DIMENSIO HOWN AND REP ECT ANY ERROR PANS WERE DETICE UNDER OU VISION AND TO (NOWLEDGE C AND LOCAL CODE	S ARE TH ARCHIT BE REF RT. THI Y IDENT HEREOI L DRAW ALL CAR ONS ANE ORT TC S, INCOI SCOVER PREPAR JR PERS THE B OMPLY ES.	HE PRO ECTUR PRODUC EY ARE ROJECT IFIED H N ARE (INGS (EFULL) COND D THE A NSISTEI ED.THE ED.THE ED.THE ED.THE SONAL S EST OF WITH S	PERTY E, LLC CED IN ONLY EREIN. VALID ONLY. (REV- ITIONS WACHI- NCIES, SE THIS SUPER- 5 OUR STATE

Unnamed

103 PHASE:

CD

























UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR NATIONAL PARK SERVICE

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES EVALUATION/RETURN SHEET

Requested Action:	Nomination			
Property Name:	Baton Rouge Electric Company (BRECO) Public Utilities Complex			
Multiple Name:				
State & County:	LOUISIANA, East Ba	aton Rouge		
Date Rece 6/2/201	ived: Date of Pe 7 6/28/	nding List: Date of 16 2017 7/13/2	Sth Day: D	Date of 45th Day: Date of Weekly List: 7/17/2017
Reference number:	SG100001311			
Nominator:	State			
Reason For Review	5 B.			
Appea	U	X PDIL		Text/Data Issue
SHPO	Request	Landscape		Photo
Waive		National		Map/Boundary
Resub	mission	Mobile Resour	rce	Period
Other		TCP		Less than 50 years
		CLG		
X_Accept	Return	Reject	7/13/	2017 Date
Abstract/Summary Comments:	Important buuilding	n local infrastructure		
Recommendation/ Criteria	Accept / A			
Reviewer _ Jim Ga	bbert		Discipline	Historian
Telephone (202)3	54-2275		Date	
DOCUMENTATION	: see attached co	mments : No see at	tached SL	R : No

If a nomination is returned to the nomination authority, the nomination is no longer under consideration by the National Park Service.

BATON ROUGE HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION REPORT FOR: <u>BATON ROUGE ELECTRIC COMPANY (BRECO)</u> <u>NATIONAL REGISTER NOMINATION</u>

NAME OF CLG: East Baton Rouge Parish Historic Preservation Commission PROPERTY NAME: Baton Rouge Electric Company (Entergy site) PROPERTY ADDRESS: 1509 Government Street DATE SENT: DATE OF NATIONAL REGISTER REVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING: Does the nomination meet the Criteria for Listing on the National Register of Historic Places? Yes X No Criterion: A X B C D Has public comment been included? Yes X No Explain: A public hearing was held by the Bast Baton Rouge HPC on March 15 and public comments were received. The Commission recommends that the property or properties should be listed on the National Register of Historic Places. The Commission would like to make the following recommendations regarding the nomination (use additional sheets if necessary): 1999 (1) - 199 □ The Commission recommends that the property or properties should not be listed on the National Register of Historic Places for the following reasons: D The Commission chooses not to make a recommendation on this nomination for the following reasons: Signature Historic District Commission Chair (Print Name) KROOME. Signature Chief Elected Official (Print Name)

State of Louisiana Office of the Lieutenant Governor Department of Culture, Recreation & Tourism Office of Cultural Development Division of Historic Preservation

DATE: May 26, 2017

BILLY NUNGESSER

LIEUTENANT GOVERNOR

- TO: Mr. James Gabbert National Park Service Mail Stop 7228 1849 C Street, NW Washington, D.C. 20240
- FROM: Nicole Hobson-Morris, Director NAW Louisiana Division of Historic Preservation

RE: BRECO Public Utilities Complex, East Baton Rouge Parish, LA

Jim,

The enclosed disks contain the true and correct copy of the National Register Documentation for the BRECO Public Utilities Complex to be placed in the National Register of Historic Places. Should you have any questions, please contact me at 225-342-8172, or nmorris@crt.la.gov.

Thanks,

Nicole

Enclosures:

х	_ CD with PDF of the National Register of Historic Places nomination form
Х	CD with electronic images (tiff format)
х	Physical Transmission Letter
х	Physical Signature Page, with original signature
X	Other: correspondence

Comments:

Please ensure that this nomination receives substantive review
This property has been certified under 36 CFR 67
The enclosed owner(s) objection(s) do do not
constitute a majority of property owners. (Publicly owned property) Other: